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The Commission on Chicago Landmarks, whose nine members are appointed by the
Mayor and City Council, was established in 1968 by city ordinance. The Gsiomis re-
sponsible for recommending to the City Council which individual buildings, ®ibjects, or
districts should be designated as Chicago Landmarks, which protects tham by |

The landmark designation process begins with a staff study and a prelimimanyasy
of information related to the potential designation criteria. The next is a preliminary vote
by the landmarks commission as to whether the proposed landmark is wactinsioferation.
This vote not only initiates the formal designation process, but it ptaeagview of city per-
mits for the property under the jurisdiction of the Commission uniiled landmark recom-
mendation is acted on by the City Council.

This Landmark Designation Report is subject to possible revision and ameindian-
ing the designation process. Only language contained within a designation ordinance adopted
by the City Council should be regarded as final.
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OPPENHEIMER-GOLDBLATT BROS.

DEPARTMENT STORE BUILDING
4700 S. Ashland Av.

Built: 1915 (Original Building)

1929 (Addition to the West)

1933 (Added Storiesto 1915 Building)
Architect: Alfred S. Alschuler

Chicago’s tremendous growth in population and size from87®s through the 1920s gave
rise to its distinctive patchwork of neighborhoods spiraywutward from Chicago’s central
business district in the Loop. While the Loop remditiee commercial heart of the city, many
of Chicago’s outlying neighborhoods grew large enough to sugpmartdawn shopping districts
with a range of stores, banks, professional servicg sheaters conveniently located for local
residents. These “cities within the city” were ofteclaored by at least one large department
store building, owned independently or by a chain, whiéred a wide range of goods at pric-
es that reflected their middle- and working class neighdmmat surroundings.

Built in phases from 1915 to 1933, the Oppenheimer-Goldbla#. Brepartment Store Build-
ing at 4700 S. Ashland Av. is one of the best-surviving eadynples of this significant build-
ing type. Each phase of the building was designed by ABre&lschuler, one of Chicago’s
most prominent early-twentieth century architects whomsby of work includes the London
Guarantee Building, K.A.M. Isaiah Israel Temple, tingt {Goldblatt Bothers Department Store
and the Florsheim Shoe Company building, all designatech@biLandmarks. Alschuler’s
design for the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Departmene3Railding is a late example of the
Chicago School, a nationally-important style of commésmehitecture. The building is also
significant for its association with the GoldblatioBr, a Chicago department store company
that grew into a regional chain by pioneering discoutaiineg methods.
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Built in phases from 1915 to 1933, the Oppenheimer-  Goldblatt Bros. Department Store is

located at the intersection of W. 47th St. and Ashl  and Avenue in the Back of the Yards
neighborhood on Chicago’s Southwest Side.




BUILDING HISTORY AND CONSTRUCTION

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Buildirigdated five miles from the
Loop on the Southwest Side at the corner of W. 2 and S. Ashland Av. in the Back of the
Yards neighborhood within the larger New City commuaitya. The name “Back of the
Yards” refers to the neighborhood'’s location southwaast, or “back,” of the Union Stock
Yards, a conglomeration of livestock trading and meatpgdacilities that once sprawled over
475 acres near Exchange and Halsted streets northsibtieés location. The Stock Yards was
one of Chicago’s largest employers from its establistinmet865 until well into the middle of
the twentieth century, and most of its employeedllwéhin walking distance in a group of
densely-populated working-class neighborhoods that includedditican to Back of the Yards,
the neighborhoods of Bridgeport, McKinley Park and Candgpall collectively known as
Packingtown.

Back of the Yards was first populated by German and imshigrants, yet as these groups
moved west in the 1870s, they were replaced by immigreotts €entral and Eastern Europe,
primarily Poles as well as Lithuanians, Bohemians dada&s who found jobs in the Stock
Yards. This working-class population lived in crowded coodgiin modest frame houses built
in the 1880s and 1890s.

In his muckraking 1906 nov@he JungleUpton Sinclair characterized Stock Yard workers as
the “wage slaves of the Beef Trust.” Despite thedynip poverty documented by Sinclair, re-
tail merchants Julius Oppenheimer and Simeon Lederesrmedshat the neighborhood con-
tained a large population with at least some incompeadon basic goods and necessities. In
1894 Oppenheimer and Lederer constructed a four-story briekmidding at the southwest
corner of W. 4% St. and Ashland Av. (the site of the current buildiwpjch housed the first
Oppenheimer department store. The store remained in baigimdéwenty years until it was
destroyed by fire in 1914, whereupon Oppenheimer immediatelynliegabuild in the spring

of 1915.

Oppenheimer commissioned Alfred S. Alschuler, a 39-y&h€hicago architect establishing
himself as a specialist in industrial and commercidtings, to design a new department store
for the site. Completed in November 1915 at a cost of $80t08d, Oppenheimer & Co. de-
partment store forms the original part of the currenicstire and consists of the four-story
block that includes three structural bays on Ashland Ad.sanbays on 47th St. as well as the
attached one-story wing extending an additional two baysh along Ashland and a wing
(originally two stories) extending four bays west off 1. Alschuler’s design employed a
white-glazed terra-cotta fagade, reinforced-concretedlaad a cast-iron structural frame (steel
framing was used in later additions to the building).

In 1926 Oppenheimer sold the property to the Buffalo-basedri_@dkmpany, which operated

their department store in the building for only two yeargil 1928, when it was purchased by
the Goldblatt Brothers, a rising Chicago retailer. Eghbd in 1914 by Maurice and Nathan

Goldblatt, Goldblatt’s had successfully adapted the depattstere model from a purveyor of
luxury goods to a retailer offering discounted merchaniseorking-class shoppers.



The circa 1915 photo
(right) depicts the build-
ing in its original form as
built for the J. Oppenhei-
mer & Co. Department
Store. The photo is from
the archives of the Amer-
ican Terra Cotta Compa-
ny which manufactured
the building’s cladding.

Fig. A

1915-1926 1929 - 1933 1933
J. Oppenheimer & Co. Goldblatt Bros. Goldblatt Bros.
5-Story Addition 2-Story Addition
1926-1928
Larkin Co.

The isometric diagram (above) shows the evolution o f the building, beginning with the original 1915 st ructure
(fig. A). In 1929 the Goldblatt Bros. added the fi  ve-story block that extended the building west alon g 47th St.

(fig. B), and in 1933 the Goldblatts added two sto  ries atop the two-story portion of the 1915 buildin g (fig. C)
which visually unified the 47th St. facade.




The Goldblatt brothers prospered and added onto the buildit@© and again in 1933 bring-
ing it to its current form. In both its structure andeewr design, the original 1915 building
was well-suited for later additions, and in both cakesGoldblatts commissioned the original
architect, Alfred Alschuler, to design them. The 1929tamidhoused additional retail space
and offices in a five-story block that expanded the bujjdiest along 47St. to Marshfield

Av. In 1933 the Goldblatts engaged Alschuler again to addstaries atop the two-story por-
tion of the 1915 building. This final addition visually unifithe 47 St. facade with a regular
rhythm of fourteen structural bays and a continuous corbiceesathe fourth story.

Though it was built in three stages from 1915 to 1933, tkeaticoherency of Alschuler’s
original design and his additions allows the buildingealbscribed as a single work. Rectan-
gular in plan with a flat roof, the building fills ti25’ x 125’ lot bounded by Ashland Av., W.
47" St., Marshfield Av., and the alley to the south. Phenary mass of the building is a four-
story block (1915, 1933) at the intersection df &1. and Ashland Av. Attached to this is a
five-story block (1929) to the west and a one-story wing (1918)etsouth.

The terra-cotta clad primary elevations facing the cenoral thoroughfares of 47th St. (north)
and Ashland Av. (east) have the most architecturalasterTypical of retail buildings of the
period, these elevations are organized into two horizditsions: a street-level one-story base
composed almost entirely of large storefront windowvdlie display of goods, and upper floors
with a unified architectural treatment of large windowrapgs defined by a grid of piers and
spandrels.

The base of the building consists of a nearly-continbaunsl of storefront windows placed in
front of the building’s structural columns. While th@rent aluminum storefront frames are
not historic, the overall size of the windows is ceteit with historic photos of the building.
The low granite bulkhead below and the transom winddwsethe storefronts are original.
There are four recessed entrances to the buildingtinersidewalk, one at Ashland Av. and
three along 47 St. The coved soffit and ornamental metal decoratidhe westernmost en-
trance on 47th St. appears to be original. A horizdoatad of terra cotta with a simple raised-
panel design marks the transition from the storeferglland the upper floors. The band in-
cludes integral terra-cotta lettering identifying the “W&gth Street” and “S. Ashland Ave”
facades, and the name “Goldblatt Bros.” is applied titinze lettering at three locations along
the band.

Above the street-level base, the upper portion of thidihgiis composed of a rectangular ar-
rangement of continuous vertical piers and recessed giaf@dming bay-spanning window
openings. The piers organize the facades into a séniepamating structural bays, with four-
teen on 47th St. and five on Ashland Av. The piersemdered as paired pilasters with simpli-
fied Classical-style bases and capitals. The hataddine of the floor levels is marked by re-
cessed spandrels with simplified panel ornamentafidw grid-like arrangement of intersect-
ing piers and spandrels expresses the underlying metal séiucanne of the building and plac-
es the design within the Chicago School, a style ofngernial architecture developed and re-
fined in Chicago from 1875 through the 1920s. The building’sstesigon is also characteristic
of the style, with each opening combining a fixed casentemtdd on each side by double-



The above photo shows the primary elevations of the building which are clad in white glazed terra cotta . The
shorter Ashland Av. elevation (left side of photo) includes the four-story portion which is divided in to three
bays as well as the one-story wing. The longer W.  47th St. elevation (right side of photo) is arrange  din a se-
ries of fourteen regularly-spaced bays. Though bui It in three stages, architect Alfred S. Alschuler’s design
for the original structure and two additions forms a unified and coherent whole.

Looking east down 47th Street (above) reveals the b uilding’s nearly continuous band of storefront wind ows
at the sidewalk level. On the upper floors project  ing piers and recessed spandrel panels intersect to create
the grid-like rectangular aesthetic that is charact  eristic of Chicago School commercial architecture. The
Marshfield Av. elevation (on the right) has a finis  hed terra-cotta return for one bay, while the rest of this sec-
ondary facade is face brick.
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While the overall design of the building fol-
lows the practical tenets of the Chicago
School, Alschuler decorated the exterior
with restrained Classical-style terra-cotta
ornamental details, including pilaster capi-
tals and a cornice (top photo) as well as the
tablet at the parapet (middle photo) framed
by swags and a Greek-key motif. Street
names (left) are molded into the terra-cotta
band above the storefront windows.




hung-sash windows, a grouping known as the “Chicago windomts association with the
Chicago School of architecture.

The upper stories are clad in white glazed terra cottaliflays a high degree of craftsman-
ship in its ornamentation. The terra cotta was matwrfad by the American Terra Cotta Com-
pany, based in the town of Terra Cotta near Crystal, U#ikeis. From 1881 to 1966 the com-
pany was one of the nation’s largest producers of terta. cot

The fourth story of the building is topped with a Clasisentablature with a projecting cornice
and raised parapet. Portions of the building rise abdevedrapet, including a one-story me-
chanical penthouse near the center of the north fepadiene fifth story at the northwest corner
of the building. A wood water tank painted with the Goltlislaame is located on a penthouse
above the south elevation.

The west elevation facing Marshfield Av., a primarilgidential street, includes a single terra-
cotta clad bay turning the corner of the building, while &ssvisible remainder of the facade
is face brick trimmed with terra-cotta stringcourseswamtlow sills. The south elevations of
the building facing the alley are utilitarian commorckri

The Neighborhood Department Store in Chicago

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Buildiregfine example of a neighbor-
hood department store, an important building type in theldpment of Chicago’s outlying
neighborhoods. As the city expanded outward from the f@wp the 1870s to the 1920s,
neighborhood shopping districts emerged which provided workind middle-class Chicago-
ans with a range of stores, banks, professional serandgheaters as a more convenient and
affordable alternative to Chicago’s Loop.

The intersection of 47th St. and Ashland Av. was onbedd neighborhood commercial nodes,
catering to the nearby working-class residents of Bdi¢ke Yards, many of whom lacked both
the financial means and convenient public transportatishdp in Chicago’s Loop. Gold-
blatt’s, and its competitors such as Kruse’s, Klein’'gldoid’s, Woolworth’s and Sears, Roe-
buck & Co., grew successful in these outlying commercialictis by offering a range of af-
fordably-priced wares for Chicago’s large working-class pojurat

Chicago’s neighborhood department stores tend to occupedethree and nine building lots
with a height of three to five stories and were oftdong with banks, the most visually-
prominent buildings in these neighborhood commerciasarét street-level the buildings fea-
ture large storefront windows for the display of goodidenthe upper floors are typically clad
in brick masonry or terra cotta. In lieu of architeatwrnamentation or rich materials, neigh-
borhood department store buildings relied on their lamggessing and scale as well as corner
locations to stand out in the commercial streetscape the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros.
Department Store Building, many of these buildings vizenit in stages, with additions added
as businesses grew.

In addition to the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Departr&ote Building, other examples of
this building type include the first Goldblatt Bros. Depaeht Store at 1613-35 W. Chicago

10



In the late-19th and early-20th centuries, neighbor  hood department stores anchored Chicago’s commercia I
districts outside the Loop. Examples of this build ing type include: the Moeller Bros. (1895, top left ) and
Wieboldt’s (1898, top right) stores in the Milwaukee Av. Chicago Landmark District; as well as the Goldblatt’s
(1927, bottom left) store in the Milwaukee-Diversey  -Kimball District. The Loren Miller & Company stor e (1915,
bottom right) is located in the Uptown Square Histo ric District on the National Register.
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Av., a desighated Chicago Landmark designed by Alfred $halsr and built in stages be-
tween 1921-22 and 1925-28. Other examples can be found in Ch&admark districts, in-
cluding the Wieboldt’'s (1898), Moeller Brothers (1895) and mets(ca 1900) stores in the
Milwaukee Avenue District; as well as the Goldblatt’s (1927) and Woolworth’s (1922) stores in
the Milwaukee-Diversey-Kimball District. Another repeesative example of the type is the
Loren Miller & Company store (1915) at 4726 N. Broadway @ tlptown Square Historic
District on the National Register.

THE CHICAGO SCHOOL OF ARCHITECTURE

With its projecting vertical piers, recessed spandrellpati@ee-part window openings and re-
strained ornamentation, the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt BrepaBment Store Building exempli-
fies the Chicago School, a style of commercial architecthat blossomed as the city was re-
built after the Great Fire of 1871. Chicago’s booming eaonin the late 1880s and ‘90s led

to soaring real estate prices in Chicago’s Loop. To makemum advantage of expensive land,
Chicago architects perfected the tall commercial offickding by adopting and advancing new
building technologies such the elevator, plate glégsflbating and caisson foundation, and,
most importantly, the metal (first iron, then stestfuctural frame.

William Le Baron Jenney’s seminal Home Insurance Bogdit LaSalle and Adams streets
was the first building to employ an iron structurale in 1884. By eliminating load-bearing
masonry exterior walls, the metal skeleton allowadnfiore rentable floor space on the build-
ing’s interior and much larger window openings for maxiniginting and ventilation. The
metal frame also allowed for architects to build taled more quickly, and it more readily ac-
cepted additional stories. In addition to supporting thelimg| Chicago school architects al-
lowed the steel frame to guide the aesthetic of thedady expressing the rectangular arrange-
ment of vertical piers and horizontal beams, pernapst boldly exemplified by Burnham and
Root’s Reliance Building (1895) which clearly reveals its dk¢lmetal structure beneath crisp
terra-cotta sheathing.

Though the Chicago School developed in the design oftyie early office towers, Louis Sul-
livan’s design for the Carson Pirie Scott & Company (1899, AB)3uccessfully adapted the
construction technology and bold aesthetic of the stytbe department store building type.
The style offered two advantages for the large retdahermetal frame allowed the ground floor
to be opened up with vast storefront display windows, amdkbletal structure allowed for
large open floor areas that could be flexibly accommotitetearious “departments” of the
store unobstructed by load-bearing partition walls.

The development of the Chicago School was eclipsed in 1888 the World’s Columbian
Exposition swayed architectural tastes toward Beaux-Assatism. However, the practical
methods and aesthetic of the Chicago School continuesl apfdied for commercial and manu-
facturing buildings outside the Loop, including neighborhdepartment stores, well into the
1920s. The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department StordiByikéxemplifies the persis-
tence of the style.
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The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros.
Department Store Building is a late
example of the Chicago School of
commercial architecture. Character-
istic of the style, the facade (top) is
arranged as a grid of continuous
vertical piers and recessed horizon-
tal spandrel panels which visually
express the building’s underlying
steel structural frame. Also charac-
teristic of the style are the building’s
“Chicago windows” (middle) with a
central fixed casement window
flanked by double-hung-sash win-
dows. While the Chicago School
took root in the design of office
buildings, it was also used for retail
buildings, including prominent de-
part stores on Chicago’s State
Street. The most important of these
being Louis Sullivan’s Carson Pirie
Scott & Company Building (1899,
1903-04, bottom) at State and Madi-
son.
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In addition to its Chicago School architectural charathe building is decorated with pared-
down Classical-style details in glazed terra-cottae piers are treated as paired pilasters with a
torus-molded base, paneled shaft and paired capitaleggHand-dart molding. The spandrels
are similarly decorated with a recessed panel motie Quilding is topped with a Classical en-
tablature that includes a frieze decorated and floralnoeng a modillion course and projecting
cornice terminating in a raised parapet with paneled deoora@t the Ashland Av. facade the
parapet includes a tablet framed with festoons.

ARCHITECT ALFRED S. ALSCHULER

Alfred S. Alschuler (1876-1940), the architect of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Depart-
ment Store Building, was one of Chicago’s most prontieany-twentieth century architects.
Born in Chicago to German immigrant parents, Alschideeived bachelor’'s and master’s de-
grees in architecture from the Armour Institute of Tedbgy (now the lllinois Institute of
Technology), and also took classes at the School drthimstitute of Chicago. In 1900 he
began his professional career in the office of Dankéter, and he subsequently worked with
both Adler and Samuel Atwater Treat. In 1907 he establisigeown practice which grew to
become one of the city’s largest architectural firmsnduthe 1910s and 1920s, a period when
the city was developing a large manufacturing base.oAfih a specialist in the design of in-
dustrial and commercial buildings, Alschuler receivadde variety of commissions, including
office towers, synagogues, libraries, automobile showroants hotels.

Through the course of his career, Alschuler designed dadeémdustrial and warehouse build-
ings throughout Chicago, many of which were located in #&r@l Manufacturing District
near 38 St. and Ashland Av. &£hicago Daily Newsurticle from January 23, 1937, noted
Alschuler’s contributions to the city’s industrial aredture:

Many of the improvements in industrial and commercial buildings
in Chicago can be attributed to the genius of Alfred S. Alschuler,
one of the city’s prominent architects. During the course of thirty-
five years or so he has introduced to Chicago such items of far-
reaching importance as the extensive use of reinforced concrete
in buildings, multicolored terra cotta, and standardized office-
building units.

While the requirements of industrial and warehouse mgkiplaced function over aesthetics,
Alschuler believed that even these utilitarian buidi had a civic obligation to visually en-
hance the city. A biographical sketch of Alschulethia Art Institute of Chicago’s 1982 publi-
cationChicago Architects Design: A Century of Architectural Drawings ftbenArt Institute

of Chicagg remarks:

At a time when the city was developing an industrial fringe of un-
attractive functional buildings, Alschuler’'s harmonious and re-
fined designs and restrained Classical detailing were changing
the texture of the city.

14



Architect Alfred S. Alschuler (above, 1876-1940) wa s one of
Chicago’s most prominent early 20th-century archite cts. His
industrial and warehouse buildings reflected his de sign phi-
losophy that however utilitarian these types of bui Idings
were, they should make an aesthetic contribution to the city-
scape.

Noted examples include the John B. Thompson Commisa  ry
Building (top left) from 1912 at 340 N. Clark; the Pelouze
Building (middle left) from 1916 at 218 E. Ohio; the Florsheim
Shoe Company Building (bottom left), a designated C  hicago
Landmark from 1926 at 3963 W. Belmont Av.; and the Kling
Brothers Company (bottom right) from 1920 at 2300 W  est Wa-
bansia Avenue.
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In addition to his many industrial and warehouse bu ildings, the versatile Alschuler designed a
range of building types in a variety of styles, inc luding the Beaux-Arts-style London Guarantee
Building (1923, top left, a designated Chicago Land  mark), the Byzantine Revival-style K.A.M Isaiah
Israel Temple (1926, top right, also a designated C  hicago Landmark), the Spanish Baroque Revival-
style Hudson Motor Car Co. Showroom (1922, lower le  ft, in the Motor Row Chicago Landmark Dis-
trict) and the Art Moderne-style Benson & Rixon Dep  artment Store building (1937, lower right).




Though designed in a range of historical styles of artite, Alschuler’s body of work in-
cludes notable examples of architectural modernism. ¥amgle, his 1926 design for a manu-
facturing plant for the Florsheim Shoe Company (a dasgghChicago Landmark) at 3963 W.
Belmont Av. is a bold application of architectural madem to an industrial building with its
sleek, rectilinear forms formed by its exposed reinfoi@®atrete structure. Another example
of his work in the modernist vein is the Benson & Rikpartment Store at 230 S State St., a
1937 Art Moderne-style design with smooth terra cotta ctaggironounced bands of glass-
block windows and curved corners.

The London Guarantee Building (1923) at 360 N. Michigan Ade&gnated Chicago land-
mark) was Alschuler’'s most important commission. Camding an important setting at the
Michigan Avenue Bridge just across the Chicago River ftioenWrigley Building and the
Tribune Tower, the 22-story Classical Revival-styleding features a concave fagade and is
topped by a cupola replicating a Greco-Roman lanterrdelgn earned Alschuler a gold med-
al from the North Michigan Avenue Improvement Asstoiafor the best new building of

1923 in the North Central District. Other extant aftowers by Alschuler include a seven-
story addition to the Blum Building at 624 S. Michigan Arcluded in the Historic Michigan
Boulevard Chicago Landmark District.

Alschuler was also known as the “Temple builder” duthtomany synagogues he designed,
including K.A.M lIsaiah Israel Temple (1926) at 1100 E. Hyd& Barulevard (a designated
Chicago landmark). The walls of this Byzantine-styléiesl feature polychromatic brick in
various shapes laid up randomly to suggest old, sun-baked wWalither important synagogue
design by Alschuler is the Sinai Temple at 4622 S. Mauiher King Drive (1909-12), now
Mt. Pisgah Missionary Baptist Church.

In addition to the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Departr&ote Building, Alschuler designed
several stores and store additions for the GoldblathBrstchain, including their first depart-
ment store (1921-22 and 1925-28) at 1613-35 W. Chicago Av. (a desi@tatago land-
mark), as well as the Goldblatt's store buildings at 314Biftoln Av. from 1929.

Civic buildings by Alschuler include Engine Company 5, TracB24 S. DesPlaines Av.
(1928, a designated Chicago Landmark), the Legler Regioorary at 115 S. Pulaski Av.
(1919), and the Henry W. Austin Public Library at 5615 W.eRat (1928). Alschuler’'s 1930
Harrison Hotel at 63 E. Harrison St. is a high-style Beto edifice replete with stylized foli-
age, while automobile showrooms for the Hudson and Marmtum®bile-manufacturing
companies, located in the Motor Row Chicago Landmark Disind both dating from 1922,
feature exuberant terra-cotta ornamentation.

GOLDBLATT BROS,, INC.

Little is known about Julius Oppenheimer, who built thgipal portion of the Oppenheimer-
Goldblatt Bros. Department Bros. Store. The buildingignificant, however, for its long asso-
ciation with the Goldblatt Brothers, a pioneering Chicegfailer who expanded the building
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Brothers Nathan (bottom left) and
Maurice Goldblatt (bottom right)
established their first store on Chi-
|cago Av. in 1914 in a rented store.
| By 1922 they built their first store at
|1613-35 W. Chicago Av., (above, a
| designated Chicago Landmark). It
was also designed by Alfred S.

| Alschuler and expanded 1925-28.
" The brothers are credited with in-
venting discount-retailing methods
that are now standard practices for
. retailers across the nation.



and operated it as a department store from 1928 to 1985.r Rathehe high style and luxury
of Chicago’s State Street department stores, the Gdidibtsthers helped revolutionize Ameri-
can retailing by catering to working class and immigrant &joans by offering low-priced
merchandise in neighborhood department stores.

The company was established by brothers Maurice and N&bidblatt, who were later joined
in managing the company by their younger brothers Jodlamd. The brothers were part of a
family that immigrated to Chicago from Poland in 1904. In 18iadirice and Nathan opened
the Goldblatt Bros. Drygoods Store in a rented buildintgd5 W. Chicago Av. in a neighbor-
hood on Chicago’s near Northwest Side known as “P@lmslintown.” The store sold a wide
range of low-priced household goods to an immigrant populatidrthe business grew rapidly.
In 1922, the brothers commissioned Alfred Alschuler togitesieir first department store
which they expanded in stages through 1928. The building sumativigl 3-35 W. Chicago

Av. and is a designated Chicago Landmark.

In the same year that they finished expansion of tinsirstore, the Goldblatts purchased the
former Oppenheimer department store 4t 87 and Ashland Av. in 1928 to serve as the first
branch, initiating a period of expansion in the compantdhawed it to proclaim itself in 1930
“America’s Fastest Growing Department Chain.” Atptsak in the 1970s, the chain included
forty-seven stores throughout Chicago and Indiana, Michéga Wisconsin. As with the Op-
penheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store, the compangyaty established branches by
purchasing existing store buildings and expanding upon them.

The Goldblatt brothers innovated discount-retailing methbalsare now standard in American
merchandising. At the core of the company’s approachheasiea that everyone was a con-
sumer, even the working poor. Retailingmagazine, Nathan Goldblatt asserted that: “the peo-
ple of Chicago want to buy goods [and] 95 percent of thera hat the money to spend for
everything they want, nor can they buy anything withousittaring its cost.” To cater to this
thrifty majority, Goldblatts located their storesGhicago’s outlying neighborhoods and estab-
lished longer hours (7 a.m. - 9 p.m.) to allow for shoppirigreeand after work. In addition to
newspaper advertisements, Goldblatts published their owrarsovhich they delivered to
neighborhood residents. The company also pursued aggressilesale buying practices to
keep their prices low, often carrying merchandise wighsdefects or from unknown brands.

In his 1994 memoir, Louis Goldblatt claimed that the compeaary the first retailer to allow the
customer to see and handle merchandise by eliminatieg) darks and counters:

Goldblatts displayed its merchandise out in the open, stacked or
dumped on tables. This enabled customers to see and handle it,
encouraging impulse sales. We called this séHetion; it grew

up to become the self-service at discount stores. Goldblatts was
about the only store in the country that tied a pair of shoes to-
gether with its own laces and dumped them on a table, inviting
the customer to find the right style and size, rather than selling
them from a box which required a clerk and space-taking chairs.
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Louis Goldblatt went on to offer a description of wha tnterior of the Oppenheimer-
Goldblatt Bros. Department Store might have been like:

We had no carpeting on the floors, no expensive fixtures, or fancy
treatments. Cartons and paper cluttered our stores. The selling
floors were a hodgepodge of grocery tables, wearing apparel,

and household needs, interspersed with hawker demonstrators of,
perhaps, knife sharpeners or furniture polish. Goldblatts was a
beehive of excitement and fun, it was not intended to be fancy or

even comfortable.

The formula worked. During the Great Depression Goltblaales nearly tripled and by 1933
the chain expanded to include five stores in Chicago, atiaud two in Joliet and one in
Hammond, Indiana. In 1936, Goldblatts bought the formettdrd~&othschild-Davis store at
333 S. State St., and opened their flagship store (nof@dRaul University Center) on Chica-
go's State Street. Architectural historian Richard Loyegs noted that “no other company in
the United States approached the scale of Goldblattstmmesiaduring the Depression.

In 1944 Nathan Goldblatt died of cancer at age 49, promptinguttviving brothers to establish
the Cancer Research Foundation in 1954. Maurice Goldtzlatiferred his executive duties to
his brothers to focus his attention as a major contyiarid fundraiser for the construction in
1950 of the Nathan Goldblatt Memorial Hospital for canmesearch at the University of Chica-
go. The Cancer Research Foundation continues to caritg onission.

In the post-war period the Goldblatts chain continueskfmand to become the largest depart-
ment store chain in Chicago, and the third-largest imghi®n. Following demographic shifts,
the new stores were located in growing communitieseapéniphery of the city and in the sub-
urbs where the stores anchored larger shopping cemntergeasing competition from national
chains such as Sears, Montgomery Ward and K-Mart ukisnédrced Goldblatts into bank-
ruptcy in 1981. In 1985 the chain’s remaining stores, includiagibpenheimer-Goldbatt
Bros. Department Store, were purchased by the Ames Comgeangontinued to operate them
as discount department stores. Patrick Kane, a dest¢erfdéathan Goldblatt, bought the
store at 4700 S. Ashland in 1999 and re-opened it as the GoBifdat Department Store. The
store finally closed in 2003.

CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION

According to the Municipal Code of Chicago (Sect 2-120-690)Citin@mission on Chicago
Landmarks has the authority to make a recommendatiomarni@ark designation to the City
Council for an area, district, place, building, structuverk of art or other object within the
City of Chicago if the Commission determines it meets or more of the stated "criteria for
designation," as well as the integrity criterion.

The following should be considered by the Commission onaglei Landmarks in determining
whether to recommend that the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bregartment Store Building be
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designated as a Chicago Landmark.

Criterion 1. Value as an Example of City, State or National Heritage
Its value as an example of the architectural, cultural, economi@rlassocial, or other aspect
of the heritage of the City of Chicago, State of lllinois, orlinéged States.

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Buildkegnglifies the im-
portant role that neighborhood department stores playedoam®mic engines in the
development of Chicago’s neighborhood commercial distin general, and specif-
ically the intersection of 47th St. and Ashland Av., ohéhe oldest such districts in
Chicago.

The building reflects important aspects of Chicago’sadpeconomic and cultural
history, particularly the shopping habits of working-cleessidents of neighborhoods
such as Back of the Yards, where retailers grew proditaplmeeting the needs of
local residents for practical and affordable merchandis

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Buildiag the first branch of
the Goldblatt Bros. chain, which at its peak was thgelst department store chain in
Chicago and the third-largest in the nation, and whicbagarded as a pioneer of
discount retailing methods that have become standartgesac

The construction of the building in 1915 and subsequent adslito it in 1929 and
1933 illustrate the economic prominence of the Oppenhane:Goldblatt depart-
ment store companies, and more broadly the transfamatiretailing in Chicago
from small independent shop owners to large companiesngffe wide range of
goods at multiple branches as the city grew.

Criterion 3: I dentification with a Person

Its identification with a person or persons who significantly con-tribtaetie architectural,
cultural, economic, historic, social, or other aspect of the developaighe City of Chicago,
State of lllinois, or the United States.

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Buildirggginificant for its
association with brothers Maurice and Nathan Goldhlat founded and led Gold-
blatt Bros., Inc., a Chicago-based company established in b8t grew into a re-
gionally-prominent discount department store chain imltetwentieth century.

The Goldblatt brothers are credited with inventing distoetailing methods that
became standard practices for retailers across tlmmathe twentieth century,
including locating their stores in working-class neighbods@xtending hours to
allow for shopping before and after work, buying whdkeggods at the lowest
price to undercut their competition, and eliminating clenkd counters to allow cus-
tomers to select and handle products themselves.

Criterion 4: Exemplary Architecture
Its exemplification of an architectural type or style distinguishg innovation, rarity, unique-
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ness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or craftsmanshi

With its continuous vertical piers and recessed spapdredis that express the un-
derlying metal structural frame, as well as its thre¢+pardows and restrained or-
namentation, the design of the Oppenheimer-Goldblat.Bdepartment Store
Building is an excellent example of the Chicago Schaatyle of commercial archi-
tecture developed in Chicago after the Great Chicago Fi8f that became inter-
nationally significant for its influence on the modenovement in architecture.

The building exemplifies the application of Chicago S¢lpomcipals to the design
of the department store building type, seen earlisuai iconic Chicago Buildings
as Louis Sullivan’s for the Carson Pirie Scott & CompBnyding, and the contin-
ued use of the Chicago School in retail commercial achite well into the twenti-
eth century.

The building is decorated with fine Classical Revivalestletails, such as the deco-
rated pilaster bases and capitals and the modillionseaat the cornice as well as
other characteristic decorative motifs such as eggdandmolding, recessed panels
and festoons.

The building is clad with white-glazed terra cotta thaptdiys a high degree of
craftsmanship in its ornamental details and overall highitgukesign and fabrica-
tion.

Criterion 5: Work of Significant Architect or Designer

Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engirsdouilder whose individual
work is significant in the history or development of the Cit@latago, the State of lllinois, or
the United States.

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Buildiag @esigned in phas-
es by Alfred S. Alschuler, one of Chicago’s prominemtyefaventieth century archi-
tects whose body of work includes such noteworthy buiklasythe London Guar-
antee and Exchange Building, K.A.M. Isaiah Israel Tentple first Goldblatt
Brothers Department Store, and the Florsheim Shoe Contpaliing, all desig-
nated Chicago Landmarks.

Alschuler’s career coincided with Chicago’s expansioa asnufacturing center,
and he became known as an innovative and prolific desajnedustrial and com-
mercial buildings that combined functionality and aestbeenhancing the charac-
ter of Chicago’s manufacturing districts.
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I ntegrity Criterion

The integrity of the proposed landmark must be preserved in liglstlotdtion, design, set-
ting, materials, workmanship and ability to express its historic, aamityn architectural or
aesthetic value

The Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bros. Department Store Builddngains in its original location.
Its setting today is primarily a neighborhood comméwistrict as it was when the building
was built. Architect Alfred Alschuler’s design of theginal building and two additions is
clearly legible as a Chicago School-style departmeng stidh Classical revival style details.

The building’s historic materials, glazed terra cottd brick masonry, remain in place. A

small number of terra cotta units, mostly at the pariepet, exhibit cracking, a common and
repairable condition of terra cotta buildings of this age. None of the cracked units appear to
be displaced from the wall plane. A small numbeteafa cotta units have been removed from
the facade and the voids have been infilled with whiteegldorick. These missing units can be
replaced based on patterns from identical units elsewdrethe fagcade.

The most significant alteration to the exterior is thplacement of the original street-level
storefront windows and doors with a contemporary alumistarefront system. The replace-
ment storefronts retain the original window configuratmod overall transparency. The steel
transom windows above the storefront windows and thetgrbnikhead beneath them are
original. Above the street level, the building rataits original wood sash windows.

A projecting blade sign is located at the northeastezavhithe building and a steel sign arma-
ture is mounted on the roof at this corner of the bugidiArchival images indicate that these
were not original to the building but were in place adyeas 1933. These accessory elements
neither impair or enhance the building’s integrity.

As a whole, the building’s condition is repairable @sdilterations are minor and reversible,
and they do not detract from the building’s ability to eggrits historic, architectural and aes-
thetic value.

SIGNIFICANT HISTORICAL AND ARCHITECTURAL FEATURES

Whenever an area, district, place, building, structuogk of art or other object is under con-
sideration for landmark designation, the CommissioiCbicago Landmarks is required to
identify the “significant historical and architecturaltig@s” of the property. This is done to
enable the owners and the public to understand which elearentensidered most important
to preserve the historical and architectural charactdregproposed landmark.

Based upon its evaluation of the Oppenheimer-Goldblatt Bregartment Store Building, the
Commission recommends that the significant featueadéntified as follows:

» All exterior elevations, including rooflines, of the lolimg.
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